SUPREME COURT CASE NO. S218973

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TSVETANA YVANOVA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

NEW CENTURY MORTGAGE CORPORATION, OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, WESTERN PROGRESSIVE, LLC, and DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One Case No. B247188 SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 9 2014.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Richard L. Antognini, (CA Bar No. 075711) LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. ANTOGNINI 819 I Street

Lincoln, California 95648-1742 Telephone: (916) 645-7278

ISSUE PRESENTED

In an action for wrongful foreclosure on a deed of trust securing a home loan, does the borrower have standing to challenge an assignment of the note and deed of trust on the basis of defects allegedly rendering the assignment void?

INTRODUCTION

Dissenting in an unpublished opinion in *Peng v. Chase Home Finance, LLC*, 2014 Cal.App.Unpub.LEXIS 2451 (Ct. App. 2nd Dist., Div. 8, April 8, 2014), at ** 10-11, Justice Laurence Rubin perfectly stated the issue in this case:

"The only party prejudiced by an illegitimate creditorbeneficiary's enforcement of the homeowner's debt, courts have reasoned, is the bona fide creditor-beneficiary, not the homeowner.

Such reasoning troubles me. I wonder whether the law would apply the same reasoning if we were dealing with debtors other than homeowners. I wonder how most of us would react if, for example, a third-party purporting to act for one's credit card company knocked on one's door, demanding we pay our credit card's monthly statement to the third party. Could we insist that the third party prove it owned our credit card debt? By the reasoning of *Fontenot* and similar cases, we could not because, after all, we owe the debt to *someone*, and the only truly aggrieved party if we paid the wrong party would, according to those cases, be our credit card company. I doubt anyone would stand for such a thing." (Italics in original.)

In Tsvetana Yvanova's case, the stranger knocked on her door, insisted that it owned her mortgage and sold her home at a foreclosure sale.

All she asks is that she be allowed to allege and then prove the stranger was wrong—that it did not own her mortgage and it had no right to foreclose. She does not attack the securitization of home loans, or try to avoid her debt. She is not asking for a free house.

What Yvanova wants to do is consistent with California law and the deed of trust she signed. It also is consistent with California public policy. Her Deed of Trust expressly gives her standing to bring an action raising any defense she has against foreclosure. California public policy going back decades gives her standing. The Homeowners Bill of Rights, the latest expression of California public policy on foreclosures, gives her standing. The answer to the issue presented must be yes--a borrower has standing to challenge an assignment of the note and deed of trust on the basis of defects allegedly rendering the assignment void.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This is a pleading case—an appeal from an order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend. It is not an appeal of a summary judgment or of a judgment after trial. In briefing the issue presented, Plaintiff and appellant TSVETANA YVANOVA (or "Yvanova") assumes this Court will follow the usual rules it applies when considering rulings on demurrers. This Court, like the trial court, must assume the truth of all facts the plaintiff properly pleads in her complaint. *Evans v. City of Berkeley*, 38 Cal.4th 1, 5 (2006). "Further, we give the complaint a

reasonable interpretation, reading it as a whole and its parts in their context." Blank v. Kirwan, 39 Cal.3d 311, 318 (1985).

The Court must consider not only what the complaint says, but what it may say if it is amended: "And when [a demurrer] is sustained without leave to amend, we decide whether there is a reasonable possibility that the defect can be cured by amendment. If it can be, the trial court has abused its discretion and we reverse; if not, there has been no abuse of discretion and we affirm." Blank v. Kirwan, supra.

The summary of facts is based on the allegations Yvanova made in her Second Amended Complaint, construed in light of the above rules.

A. What the Second Amended Complaint alleges.

Yvanova owned a home located at 22054 Crespi Street, Woodland Hills, California 91364. (Respondents' Appendix [or "RA"], at pages 3-4.) On July 6, 2006, she took out a loan on the home. (RA, at pages 57-59.) The amount of the loan was \$483,000. (RA, at page 42.) The lender was New Century Mortgage Corporation (or "New Century"). At the same time, Yvanova signed a Deed of Trust. (RA, at pages 40-56.) She attached the Deed of Trust as an exhibit to her SAC. (RA, at page 18.) The Deed of Trust provided security for the loan. If Yvanova did not perform by making payments, she could lose her house to a foreclosure sale, but only to the "Lender." (*Ibid.*)

The Deed of Trust identified New Century alone as the "Lender." (RA, at page 40.) The Deed of Trust granted the Trustee the power of sale, but only to protect the "Lender:" "This Security Instrument secures to the Lender: (i) the repayment of the Loan . . . and (ii) the performance of Borrower's covenants and agreements under this Security Instrument and the Note. *For this* purpose, Borrower irrevocably grants and conveys to Trustee, in trust, *with power of sale*, the following described property. . . ." (RA, at page 43; italics added.)

The Deed of Trust told the borrower that only New Century, as the "Lender," had the power to declare a default: "If Lender invokes the power of sale, Lender shall execute or cause Trustee to execute a written notice of the occurrence of an event of default and of Lender's election to cause the Property to be sold." (RA, at page 53.) Only the "Lender" had the power of sale: "If the default is not cured on or before the date specified in the notice, Lender at its option may require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this Security Instrument without further demand and may invoke the power of sale and any other remedies permitted by Applicable Law." (RA, at page 53.)

Critically, the Deed of Trust gave the borrower the right to file suit to "assert any other defense of Borrower to acceleration and sale:" "The notice shall further inform Borrower of the right to reinstate after acceleration and the right to bring a court action to assert the non-existence

of a default or any other defense of Borrower to acceleration and sale." (RA, at page 53.)

On April 2, 2007, New Century filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy. (RA, at page 4.) On August 1, 2008, the bankruptcy court approved its plan of reorganization. (*Ibid.*) Under the plan, New Century was liquidated, and its assets were transferred to a liquidating trust called the New Century Liquidating Trust or "NCLT." (*Ibid.*) Alan Jacobs was appointed trustee of NCLT. (*Ibid.*)

Like thousands of other Californians, Yvanova was hit hard by the recession and fell behind on her mortgage payments. On August 29, 2008, Old Republic Default Management Services (or "Old Republic") issued a Notice of Default. (RA, at pages 64-65.) This Notice purported to identify New Century as the "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust. (RA, at page 65.) ("Beneficiary" in this context meant "Lender" under the Deed of Trust.) This was curious, because New Century had been dissolved by the bankruptcy court. A few months later, on December 9, 2008, Old Republic issued a Notice of Trustee's sale. (RA, page 68.) The Notice indicated that New Century was the "beneficiary." (*Ibid.*)

Three years later, on December 19, 2011, Ocwen Loan Servicing, purporting to act as trustee, recorded an "Assignment of Deed of Trust." (RA, at pages 73-75.) This "Assignment" attempted to transfer Yvanova's Deed of Trust from New Century (but not from NCLT) to an investment

trust called "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for the Registered Holder of Morgan Stanley ABS Capital I Inc. Trust 2007 HE1 Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2007-HE1." This entity was "a mortgage-backed security" or "MBS," which was a pool of mortgages packaged together into securities that are sold to investors. *Glaski v. Bank of America*, 218 Cal.App.4th 1079, 1093 (2013). Yvanova will refer to this entity as the Morgan Stanley MBS or the "investment trust."

This "assignment" was news to Yvanova and raised legitimate questions. First, the assignment was dated December, 2011, and was from New Century to Morgan Stanley MBS. How could New Century make this transfer over three years after it had been liquidated? Second, as Yvanova learned, the loan servicer, Ocwen, and the trustee Western Progressive, believed that her Deed of Trust had been assigned to the Morgan Stanley MBS as early as 2007. Why, then, did someone think it was necessary to issue and record the "Assignment" in December 2011? Third, how could the Yvanova Deed of Trust be assigned to the Morgan Stanley MBS in December 2011, when that trust had a closing date of January 26, 2007 and required all property to be assigned to the trust within 90 days of that date?

This four-year gap revealed a break in the chain of title between New Century, the original lender, and Morgan Stanley MBS. If the Yvanova Deed of Trust had been legally transferred to the Morgan Stanley MBS in 2007, there was no need for the December 2011 "Assignment."

The fact that the "Assignment" was issued indicated a problem in showing an unbroken chain of title.

B. Trial court proceedings.

Based on this break in the chain of title, Yvanova sued New Century, Ocwen and Deutsche Bank National Trust, the trustee for Morgan Stanley MBS, among other defendants. She filed her original complaint on May 14, 2012. (RA, at page 137.) The defendants demurred, and she filed a first amended complaint. (RA, at page 138.) The defendants demurred to this complaint, but she was granted leave to amend. She filed her second amended complaint (or "SAC") on November 5, 2012. (RA, at page 139.) In the SAC, she alleges that a break in the chain of title deprives Deutsche, Morgan Stanley MBS, and the other defendants of any power to foreclose:

- "2. However, NEW CENTURY did not assign the Deed of Trust to [Morgan Stanley MBS] as part of the sale of the underlying Note. NEW CENTURY never assigned the beneficial ownership of the purported Deed of Trust to any party. As a result of the transfer of the Note in blank from NEW CENTURY to MORGAN, the security interest in Plaintiff's property known as the Deed of Trust was terminated."
- 3. Plaintiff further alleges that Defendant NEW CENTURY, and each of them, cannot establish possession and/or proper transfer and/or endorsement of the Promissory Note and proper assignment of the Deed of Trust either to [Morgan Stanley MBS] or DEUTSCHE, as trustee; therefore, none of the Defendants have perfected any claim of title or security interest in the property. Defendants and each of them do not have the ability to establish that the Deed of Trust, that secured the Note were legally or properly acquired by Defendants." (RA, at page 5; original formatting eliminated.)

The SAC stated a single claim to quiet title to the Yvanova home. (RA, at pages 15-17.) However, it can easily be amended to allege a claim for wrongful foreclosure, because Yvanova claims compensatory damages and other relief besides quiet title. "Plaintiff seeks redress from Defendants . . . for damages and other injunctive relief. . . ." (RA, at page 6.)

Again, the defendants demurred, and on February 8, 2013, the trial court sustained their demurrer without leave to amend:

"As to the demurrer, the court finds that for the reasons stated in defendants' moving papers, the Second Amended Complaint fails to state or allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action as pled against these defendants. . . . The court notes that plaintiff has intermittently been in default since at least 2008 and represents to the court that she has not made attempts to discharge the debt or tender the amount owed." (RA, at page 135.)

On September 14, 2012, Yvanova's home was sold at a foreclosure sale. (RA, at page 5.) As of today, Yvanova continues to live in the home, although she faces eviction if she loses an upcoming trial on an unlawful detainer complaint. Trial in her unlawful detainer case is set for January 6, 2015.

C. The Court of Appeal Affirms.

Yvanova appealed the order sustaining the demurrer. On April 25, 2014 the court of appeal affirmed in an unpublished opinion, which it ordered published on May 22, 2014. The court of appeal noted the core allegation of the SAC:

"Plaintiff also alleged the 2011 transfer to Deutsche Bank was invalid because New Century Mortgage had entered into bankruptcy in August 2008, and the purported assignment to Deutsche Bank after liquidation was made without the authorization of the bankruptcy trustee and was irregular in Although several of the purported several respects. irregularities are specious (for example, plaintiff queries why an entity incorporated under the laws of one state might list its address in another state), the essence of plaintiff's allegations is that recorded documents, without more, do not establish chain of title running to Deutsche Bank. Ultimately, plaintiff alleged, Deutsche Bank never possessed the trust deed, and all downstream transfers were therefore void. She further alleged that transfer of the promissory note in blank from New Century Mortgage to Morgan Stanley terminated Yvanova v. New the security interest in her property." Century Mortgage Corp., slip opinion at page 4.

Ultimately, the court found that Yvanova could not allege any cause of action even if she could prove a break in the chain of title." *Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp.*, slip opinion at page 7. First, she had no "standing" to bring up a break in the chain of title. *Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp.*, slip opinion at pages 7-8, *quoting Jenkins v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 216 Cal.App.4th 497, 515 (2013).

Second, although the court recognized that Glaski v. Bank of America, supra, a published opinion from the Fifth District, would allow her to pursue a claim for wrongful foreclosure, it rejected Glaski. Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage Corp., slip opinion at page 8. The court stressed that Jenkins contradicted Glaski: "Jenkins is directly to the contrary." (Ibid.)

D. Post-opinion proceedings.

Yvanova filed a petition for rehearing on May 9, 2014. The court of appeal denied the petition on May 27, 2014, and did not change any language in the opinion. Yvanova filed her petition for review on July 2, 2014. The Court granted review on August 27, 2014, and limited briefing to the issue stated above.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

As stressed above, this is an appeal of a demurrer, not an appeal of a judgment after trial. This Court, like the court of appeal, applies a *de novo* standard of review. *Blank v. Kirwan, supra; Schifando v. City of Los Angeles*, 31 Cal.4th 1074, 1082 (2003).

B. Background of the Issue Presented

1. Securitization

This case arises out of an attempt to assign Yvanova's loan to an MBS or mortgage-backed securitized trust. (Another name for such trusts is "investment trust.") The mortgage-backed securitized trust was one of the forces behind the home financing and refinancing boom in the last decade. *Glaski v. Bank of America*, 218 Cal.App.4th at 1082. Using this device, securities underwriters set up investment trusts, each having a trustee. Lenders would issue loans to homeowners, secured by a deed of trust that made the lender the "beneficiary" and thus able to enforce the

deed through a power of sale. *Ibid*. In turn, the lenders would transfer the loans into the investment trust, which would sell bonds to investors. The trust used mortgage payments from borrowers to pay income to investors. *Ibid*.

The trust was governed by a Pooling and Servicing Agreement or PSA, which typically required that each loan in the pool be transferred into the trust by a specific cutoff date. *Glaski v. Bank of America*, 218 Cal.App.4th at 1096-1097. This cutoff date existed because it was required by Internal Revenue Service statutes and regulations. *Ibid*. Failure to transfer the loan into the trust by the cutoff date jeopardized the tax benefits the investment trust might receive. *Ibid*.

When the recession hit in 2008, many homeowners in California fell behind on their payments and foreclosures began. In the past, the lender that issued the loan would contact the foreclosure trustee designated in the deed of trust, and instruct the trustee to start the foreclosure process. Sometimes, the lender delegated that power to a third party that also handled bill payments and other matters, called a loan servicer. *Jenkins v. J.P. Morgan Chase*, 216 Cal.App.4th 497, 508-509 (2013).

For many California homeowners, it was unclear who owned their loans, because those loans supposedly had been sold to investment trusts. In many cases, servicers and investment trusts took actions that led borrowers to believe that even these entities did not know who owned a

particular loan. In *Glaski*, for example, Chase recorded two assignments of the Glaski deed of trust to an investment trust, both over two years after the trust's closing date. *Glaski v. Bank of America*, 218 Cal.App.4th at 1085. In *Yvanova v. New Century Mortgage*, the original lender, New Century, supposedly assigned Yvanova's loan to the Morgan Stanley MBS trust in 2011, four years after New Century went bankrupt, three years after it was liquidated, and nearly five years after the trust supposedly closed.

These actions led borrowers to challenge the power of lenders and servicers to foreclose. Borrowers alleged specific facts that showed an investment trust or bank lacked the power to foreclose. They pointed to inconsistent actions, as in *Glaski*, or other facts that indicated that the "foreclosing party lacked standing to foreclose," or "the chain of title relied upon by the foreclosing party contain[ed] breaks or defects." *Glaski v. Bank of America*, 218 Cal.App.4th at 1093. Nearly all of these cases arose from demurrers or motions to dismiss. *Glaski, supra; Scott v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 214 Cal.App.4th 743, 764 (2013).

2. The tort of wrongful foreclosure.

Since the Court has asked for briefing on "an action for wrongful foreclosure," Yvanova first will explain the elements of a wrongful foreclosure claim.

The tort of wrongful foreclosure began in California with *Munger v. Moore*, 11 Cal.App.4th 1, 7-8 (1970), where the court found that wrongful

foreclosure was similar to conversion, except that it arose from the wrongful conversion of real property:

"Since conversion is a tort which applies to personal property, we disagree with the Murphy case [Murphy v. Wilson, 153 Cal.App.2d 1321 to the extent that it purports to indicate that there may be a conversion of real property. We are inclined, however, to believe that with respect to real property the Murphy case was articulating a rule that has been applied in other jurisdictions. That rule is that a trustee or mortgagee may be liable to the trustor or mortgagor for damages sustained where there has been an illegal, fraudulent or willfully oppressive sale of property under a power of sale contained in a mortgage or deed of trust. . . . This rule of liability is also applicable in California, we believe, upon the basic principle of tort liability declared in the Civil Code that every person is bound by law not to injure the person or property of another or infringe on any of his rights." (Citations omitted; footnote omitted; italics added.)

Later opinions have likened wrongful foreclosure to a cause of action to set aside a trustee's sale, where the elements are:

"(1) [T]he trustee or mortgagee caused an illegal, fraudulent or willfully oppressive sale of real property pursuant to a power of sale in a mortgage or deed of trust; (2) the party attacking the sale (usually but not always the trustor or mortgagor) was prejudiced or harmed; and (3) in cases where the trustor or mortgagor challenges the sale, the trustor or mortgagor tendered the amount of the secured indebtedness or was excused from tendering." *Lona v. Citibank, N.A.*, 202 Cal.App.4th 89, 103 (2011).

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