IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TSVETANA YVANOVA,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

JAN 2 8 2015

NEW CENTURY MORTGAGE CORPORATION et al.,

Defendants/Respondents.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Petition for Review of a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division One Case No. B247188

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Eric D. Houser (Bar No. 130079)

Robert W. Norman, Jr. (Bar No. 232470)

HOUSER & ALLISON, APC

3780 Kilroy Airport Way, Suite 130

Long Beach, CA 90806 TEL: (562) 256-1675

FAX: (562) 256-1685

E-Mail: rnorman@houser-law.com

K. Lee Marshall (Bar No. 277092) Nafiz Cekirge (Bar No. 255710)

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

The Second Amended Complaint concedes that "the Note was sold to Morgan" in 2007 (RA 10 ¶1). Under long-standing California and New York law, a deed of trust (or mortgage) "is a mere incident to the debt which it secures, and follows the transfer of a note with the full effect of a regular assignment." *Ord v. McKee*, 5 Cal. 515, 516 (1855). As codified in Cal. Civ. Code § 2936, "the assignment of the note carrie[s] with it the security of the deed of trust." *Seidell v. Tuxedo Land Co.*, 216 Cal. 165, 170 (1932); *see* N.Y. Jur.2d, *Mortgages* § 277 ("the mortgage follows the note so that when the note changes hands, the mortgage interest automatically follows"); *see also Carpenter v. Longan*, 83 U.S. 271, 275 (1873) ("The transfer of the note carries with it the security, without any formal assignment or delivery, or even mention of the latter").

As a matter of law, then, Morgan 2007-HE1 acquired Yvanova's Deed of Trust along with the Note in 2007. "[H]aving the right to the note," Deutsche Bank "had undoubtedly a right to foreclose...." *Ord*, 5 Cal. at 516. The Second Amended Complaint alleges nothing factual to the contrary. Ocwen's execution and recording of a subsequent confirmatory Assignment of the Deed of Trust in 2011 – which the PSA, not California law, required – changes nothing.⁶/

California courts have consistently rejected Yvanova's conclusory allegation that "[a] bifurcation of the Note from the Deed of Trust has occurred" (RA 10 ¶ 1). See, e.g., Debrunner v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co., 204 Cal.App.4th 433, 437, 442 (2012); Kramer v. Bank of America, N.A., 2014 WL 1577671, *8 (E.D. Cal. 2014) (collecting cases).

In any event, the plain language of the PSA, which Yvanova submitted, contradicts her speculative allegation that New Century did not assign her Deed of Trust to Morgan 2007-HE1 until 2011. The PSA shows that New Century sold and assigned all right, title, and interest in her debt, including the beneficial interest in the Deed of Trust, to Morgan 2007-HE1 in 2007, and that the Trust's ownership vested on that date (AA Vol. 1-2 p. 336-37).

Under Section 2.01(a) of the PSA, "[t]he Depositor, concurrently with the execution and delivery hereof, hereby sells, transfers, assigns, sets over and otherwise conveys to the Trustee for the benefit of the Certificateholders, without recourse, all the right, title and interest of the Depositor in and to the Trust Fund, and the Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, hereby accepts the Trust Fund" (AA Vol. 1-2 p. 337 § 2.01(a)). The "Trust Fund" included "the transfer and assignment of each Mortgage Loan" and the delivery of "the original Mortgage Note bearing all intervening endorsements" and "the original Mortgage [Deed of Trust] with evidence of recording thereon" (*Id.* § 2.01(b)(i)-(ii)).

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit considered a PSA with these same terms in *Rajamin*, and held: "The PSAs themselves were sufficient to assign plaintiffs' obligations to" the trust. 757 F.3d at 91.

(C) 2009: The HAMP Trial Period Plan

Yvanova's documents show that she knew, as early as 2009, that Deutsche Bank had succeeded to New Century's rights as Lender under her Note and Deed of Trust. That year, Yvanova entered into a HAMP Trial Period Plan with Deutsche Bank that identified "the Lender" as "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Morgan Stanley ABS Capital I Inc. Trust 2007-HE1" (AA Vol. 1-2 p. 407-12).

(D) 2011: The Recorded Assignment of the Deed of Trust

Because California law does not require the recording of assignments of Deeds of Trust, the parties to the PSA were not required to, and did not, record an assignment of the Deed of Trust when Yvanova's debt was sold to Morgan 2007-HE1.

Ocwen, acting as attorney in fact for New Century, executed and recorded the Assignment of the Deed of Trust in 2011 because the PSA required that act at that time. The PSA obligated New Century to deliver "Assignments of Mortgages, in blank, for each Mortgage Loan" and provide them, along with "complete recording information" to the Servicer (AA Vol. 1-2 p. 339-40 §2.01(b)). The PSA then required the Servicer to record an Assignment of the Mortgage or Deed of Trust in California "if foreclosure proceedings occur against a Mortgaged Property" (*Id.* at p. 340; emphasis original). (Yvanova's documents again refute her argument; in this instance, her claim that "[i]f the Yvanova Deed of Trust had been legally transferred to [Morgan 2007-HE1] in 2007, there was no need for the December 2011 'Assignment'" (OB 6).)

Ocwen's confirmatory recording of an assignment could not and did not change the fact that Morgan 2007-HE1 had owned Yvanova's debt and was Deed of Trust beneficiary since 2007. The recording merely fulfilled the PSA's requirements while providing public notice of Deutsche Bank's right, as Deed of Trust beneficiary, to foreclose and sell the property. *See* Cal. Civ. Code § 2934; *Adler v. Sargent*, 109 Cal. 42, 49 (1895).⁷⁷

Although California does not require the recording of assignments of deeds of trust, Cal. Civ. Code § 2932.5 requires assignments of mortgages to be recorded before foreclosure takes place. (In mortgages, the borrower grants the power of sale to the mortgagee/lender; in deeds of trust, the power of sale is granted to a third party, the trustee.) The PSA's recording requirement thus assured that Section 2932.5 is fulfilled for mortgages.

(E) 2012: Foreclosure Notices and Substitution of Trustee

On January 31, 2012, Western Progressive, acting as agent for the Deed of Trust beneficiary, recorded a Notice of Default (RA 79-82). On February 28, 2012, Western Progressive was substituted as trustee under the Deed of Trust (RA 85). On August 20, 2012, Western Progressive recorded the Notice of Trustee's Sale (RA 88-90). Even if Yvanova's speculative allegation that the Deed of Trust was not conveyed and assigned to Morgan 2007-HE1 until 2011 were true, California law authorized each of these post-assignment acts. *See* Cal. Civ. Code §§ 2924(a)(1), 2924a, 2924f, 2934a (2012).

* * *

Yvanova does not and cannot challenge the existence and authenticity of these documents, which she submitted. She does not and cannot challenge New Century's authority to appoint Ocwen as its attorney in fact, enter into the PSA, and assign her debt to Morgan 2007-HE1. She does not and cannot challenge Ocwen's authority to record the Assignment of the Deed of Trust or the PSA's requirement that Ocwen record the Assignment in anticipation of foreclosure. She challenges only the timing of Ocwen's exercise of that authority based on her failure to read Section 2.01(b) of the PSA and her mistaken belief that the recording date of an assignment evidences the date the assignor conveyed her loan.

Yvanova's conclusory allegation of a post-closing assignment of her Deed of Trust, which is essential to her theory of standing, misreads and conflicts with her own documents. The Court should reject it. *See Blatty*, 42 Cal.3d at 1040; *Evans*, 38 Cal.4th at 17, 20.

II. YVANOVA LACKS STANDING BECAUSE SHE IS NOT A PARTY TO, OR INTENDED THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY OF, THE POOLING AND SERVICING AGREEMENT.

Cal. Civ. Code § 367 provides: "Every action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest, except as otherwise provided by statute." A "real party in interest" is generally defined as "the person possessing the right sued upon by reason of the substantive law." *Killian v. Millard*, 228 Cal.App.3d 1601, 1605 (1991) (citation omitted). A plaintiff who is not the real party in interest lacks standing to sue. *Redevelopment Agency of San Diego v. San Diego Gas & Elec. Co.*, 111 Cal.App.4th 912, 920–21 (2003); *Cloud v. Northrop Grumman Corp.*, 67 Cal.App.4th 995, 1004 (1998).

Under California and New York law (which governs the PSA, see AA Vol. 1-2 p. 341-42, § 2.01(c)), a litigant who is not a party to, or an intended third-party beneficiary of, a contract lacks standing to challenge a party's breach of or noncompliance with that contract.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1559 "excludes enforcement of a contract by persons who are only incidentally or remotely benefited by it." *Martinez v. Socoma Cos.*, 11 Cal.3d 395, 400 (1974), citing *Lucas v. Hamm*, 56 Cal.2d 583, 590 (1961); *see also Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 315 ("An incidental beneficiary acquires by virtue of the promise no right against the promisor or promisee"). As this Court held in *Murphy v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 17 Cal. 3d 937, 944 (1976) (citations omitted):

A third party should not be permitted to enforce covenants made not for his benefit, but rather for others. He is not a contracting party; his right to performance is predicated on the contracting parties' intent to benefit him.... As to any provision made not for his benefit but for the benefit of the contracting parties or for other third parties, he becomes an intermeddler.

See, e.g., Hess v. Ford Motor Co., 27 Cal.4th 516, 528 (2002) ("[T]he parties to the Release did not intend to benefit Ford.... Ford is an 'intermeddler' and cannot enforce the terms of the Release"); Gantman v. United Pacific Ins., 232 Cal.App.3d 1560, 1566 (1991); Mendel v. Henry Phipps Plaza West Inc., 6 N.Y.3d 783, 786-87 (2006).

Yvanova is not a party to the PSA, and she does not allege she is a beneficiary. And the plain language of the PSA shows that Yvanova is not an incidental third-party beneficiary, let alone an intended one. Nothing in its text suggests any intent to provide benefits to borrowers like Yvanova; the PSA changed nothing about her loan save the identity of the owner. Instead, the PSA is intended to "benefit the investors who buy securities backed by the mortgage pool...." *Reinagel v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co.*, 735 F.3d 220, 228 n.29 (5th Cir. 2013); *see Rajamin*, 757 F.3d at 87.

A would-be plaintiff's contention that the contract is "void" is irrelevant to this analysis. Standing to enforce a contract is a threshold issue, to be resolved without regard to whether the agreement is allegedly void. See Schauer v. Mandarin Gems of Cal., Inc., 125 Cal.App.4th 949, 955—6, 958 (2005).

This rule has been applied to assignments of debt since the earliest years of this State. In *Caulfield v. Sanders*, 17 Cal. 569, 571-72 (1861), this Court held that a debtor could not challenge an assignee's demand for payment of the debt by alleging that the assignment was unauthorized and lacked consideration, and was thus void:

[D]efendant avers that he has reason to believe that the account was not transferred to the plaintiff until February, 1859, and that the transfer was procured from Redding alone, without consultation with his partners, and for a mere nominal consideration. If the matters thus stated were true in fact, they would constitute no defense to the

action. It is of no consequence to the defendant, as it in no respect affects his liability, whether the transfer was made at one time or another, or with or without consideration, or by one or by all the members of the firm.

Id. at 572.

In *Seidell*, this Court rejected a challenge to an assignment of a promissory note and deed of trust as void as "taken for delay merely" to postpone foreclosure. 216 Cal. at 171. Purchasers of property encumbered by a deed of trust sued to enjoin a foreclosure sale, contending, among other things, that "the assignment of the note by the original payee thereof to the Tuxedo Land Company was without consideration, and that the assignment was made without any right or authority" by an unauthorized agent of the beneficiary. *Id.* at 167, 169. This Court rejected this claim because "this was not a matter which concerned appellants." *Id.* at 169. "[T]he appellants are in no position to question the validity of an assignment...." *Id.* at 170.

This limitation on standing is particularly important in the context of the PSA, which is a trust agreement. Under Cal. Prob. Code § 16420, only a beneficiary or co-trustee of a trust may sue for breach of trust. See also Restatement of Trusts (Third) § 94(1) (2012) ("A suit against a trustee of a private trust to enjoin or redress a breach of trust or otherwise to enforce the trust may be maintained only by a beneficiary or by a co-trustee, successor trustee, or other person acting on behalf of one or more beneficiaries").

The same is true under New York law. See Estate of McManus, 47 N.Y.2d 717, 719 (1979) (persons who "were not beneficially interested in the trust ... lack standing to challenge the actions of its trustee"); Cashman v. Petrie, 14 N.Y.2d 426, 430 (1964) ("A person who might incidentally

benefit from the performance of a trust but is not a beneficiary thereof cannot maintain a suit to enforce the trust or to enjoin a breach").

Even if Yvanova could allege facts showing a post-closing assignment of the Deed of Trust that violated the provisions of the PSA, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, the California Courts of Appeal, and other federal and state courts across the country have held in near-uniform fashion that borrowers cannot challenge the assignment of a note or a deed of trust to a securitization trust — even based on allegations that the transfers are void. *See, e.g., Rajamin*, 757 F.3d at 91; *In re Davies*, 565 Fed. Appx. 630, 633 (9th Cir. 2014) ("the weight of authority holds that debtors ... — who are not parties to the pooling and servicing agreements — cannot challenge them.... We believe the California Supreme Court, if confronted with this issue, would so hold"); *Reinagel*, 735 F.3d at 228; *Karnatcheva v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 704 F.3d 545, 547 (8th Cir. 2013); *Jenkins*, 216 Cal.App.4th at 515; *Arabia v. BAC Home Loans Serv., L.P.*, 208 Cal.App.4th 462, 473 (2012).

In *Rajamin*, plaintiffs "challenged defendants' (a) ownership of plaintiffs' loans and mortgages, (b) right to collect and receive payment on the loans, and (c) right to commence or authorize the commencement of foreclosure proceedings where payments have not been made or received... on the ground, inter alia, that there was a lack of compliance with provisions of the [PSAs]." 757 F.3d at 82. Like Yvanova, the *Rajamin* plaintiffs "were neither parties to nor third-party beneficiaries of the assignment agreements." *Id.* at 81. The Second Circuit held that borrowers like Yvanova lack standing to assert claims based on non-compliance with PSAs or New York trust law because they are "nonparties" to the PSAs and not "beneficiaries of the securitization trusts." *Id.* at 88, 90; *see also*

Reinagel, 735 F.3d at 228 n.29 ("courts invariably deny mortgagors third-party status to enforce PSAs"); Bank of New York Mellon v. Gales, 982 N.Y.S.2d 911, 912 (N.Y. App. 2014).

The decision of New York's high court in *McManus* is instructive. There, litigants challenged a stock transfer in violation of a trust agreement as void. The Court held that, even if the transfer may have violated the trust agreement and New York law, because the litigants "were not beneficially interested in the trust ... they lack standing to challenge the actions of its trustee." *Estate of McManus*, 47 N.Y.2d at 719. "Given this disposition of the matter, we need not decide whether the conduct of the trustee comported with the terms of the trust...." *Id.*; *see Rajamin*, 757 F.3d at 88.

This refusal to confer standing on non-parties and non-beneficiaries who would allege breach of private agreements is based on public policy favoring the integrity of contracts, and stability and predictability in commercial affairs — and avoiding judicial intrusion on, and constant oversight of, the right to form and adjust legal relationships by agreement. Allowing a plaintiff who is not a contracting party or contract beneficiary to allege breach or defective performance deprives the actual parties and beneficiaries the fruits of their bargain. It also denies the actual parties and beneficiaries the right, when available, to ratify or otherwise accept breaches or lapses in performance.

Yvanova's misreading of the PSA underscores why strangers to contracts are not allowed to seek to enforce the obligations and interests of others. *See, e.g., Warth v. Seldin*, 422 U.S. 490, 499 (1975). This principle ensures that the party with the "appropriate incentive" to raise (or elect not

to raise) a challenge does so with "the necessary zeal and appropriate presentation." *Kowalski v. Tesmer*, 543 U.S. 125, 129 (2004).

III. YVANOVA LACKS STANDING BECAUSE SHE ALLEGES NOTHING TO SHOW THE ASSIGNMENT IS VOID.

Yvanova also lacks standing for the independent reason that her allegations do not and cannot show that the supposedly defective assignment is void.

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